1948

# The State of Utah v. Ivella Hutchison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This cause was the result of an order to show cause proceeding. Howard Byington having been divorced by his wife was cited into court for failing to pay alimony as decreed by the court. Respondent's Exhibit C. Mr. Byington's former wife took the stand and testified as to the default in

alimony payments. Rec. 44-52. At the conclusion of her testimony, Mr. Byington was asked by the court if he wanted to cross examine his former wife. He declined to cross examine. The court asked him if he wanted to take the stand and he declined. The court then requested Mr. Byington to take the stand as he, the court, wanted to ask him some questions. He was examined as to his earnings since the divorce. Mr. Byington was then asked if he were married and he answered "yes". Rec. 52-55. Mr. Byington was then asked by the court to produce his wife. The court then sent Mr. Byington and the sheriff to bring her into court, giving him five minutes to do so. The appellant, his alleged wife, was placed on the stand by the court in the order to show cause proceedings, and asked whether she was married to Mr. Byington, and she answered in the affirmative. Rec.

56-63. The appellant was asked where she was married and where her marriage certificate was and etc. The court then found Mr. Byington in contempt of court for failure to pay alimony and then in open court said,

"You will be remanded into custody of the sheriff of Cache County in execution of this judgment, and the District and the County Attorney are here, and I'm submitting this case to them for an investigation with respect to violation of any of the criminal laws of the State of Utah." Rec. 65. (Reference to the record above refers to the record in the appeal of State vs Byington)

On the 13th day of December, 1947, a charge of first degree perjury upon Sheriff's complaint was filed against the appellant and Howard Byington. The complaint and information were based on the testimony of the appellant and Byington in which they stated they were married. The trials resulted in convictions of second degree perjury of both the appellant and Byington on the 13th and 14th day of January respectfully. The appellant was

fined \$250.00 and sentenced to 90 days in the County jail. The sentence to be suspended upon the payment of the fine.

From this sentence the appellant appeals.

Said appeal is based on irregularities and illegalities in the proceeding which resulted in the filing of charges and the ultimate conviction of the appellant.

The appellant contends that the conviction should be nullified and set aside for the following reasons.

I. That the proceedings from the beginning were irregular and illegal.

A. The charge of perjury was based on immaterial testimony irregularly received.

B. Testimony on which charge was based was on incriminating questions and answers of the appellant.



C. The appellant was illegally compelled to testify.

D. Appellant was entitled to change of Judge because of bias and prejudice of the trial Judge.

-A-

THE CHARGE OF PERJURY WAS BASED ON  
IMMATERIAL TESTIMONY IRREGULARLY RECEIVED.

The question as to the marriage of Mr. Byington was wholly immaterial as far as the order to show cause proceedings were concerned. Whether he was married or not was collateral and incidental as far as the issue in the proceedings was involved. He was in default in his alimony payments and was in contempt for such failure. This was true whether he had remarried or not. Mr. Byington made no defense as to the failure to pay alimony. He did not raise the question of remarriage as a defense for defaulting in the payment

of alimony.

From the court's instruction at the trial, it is admitted that the appellant's testimony as to marriage was immaterial.

Instruction Number Five.

"If you do find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did commit perjury, then the Court instructs you as a matter of law that the matters concerning which the defendant testified were not material matters and your verdict must be guilty of perjury in the second degree.

THE COURT: The record may show that the Court gives you Instruction Number Five with respect to second degree perjury because the financial status of Mr. Byington was the primary purpose of the inquiry, and his marital status was only collateral. That statement of the Court may also be transcribed by the Reporter and taken to the jury room if counsel desires." Rec. 115.

The only reason that can be given for requiring the appellant to testify was either to have her perjure herself or incriminate herself. The question of marriage was wholly irrelevant and remote to the issues involved in the order to show cause proceedings. It would appear that

the only possible reason for compelling the appellant to testify was one of entrapment.

The question arises then whether appellant had to take the stand as a witness and whether she could rightfully by the court be asked a question that would be self incriminating if answered. The appellant had been living with Mr. Howard Hyington as man and wife. A baby was born out of this relationship. To have answered the question as to whether she had married in the negative would be admitting that she, the appellant, had lived in unlawful cohabitation with Mr. Hyington. A baby was born within the six months period following the divorce of Mr. Hyington and the relationship with Mr. Hyington occurred while Mr. Hyington was married. Rec. 99.

-B-

TESTIMONY OF MISS ORANGE ANN BAKER

AS TO INCARCERATING A FEMALE WHO REFUSES

OF THE APPELLANT.

Art. 1 Sec. 12 of the State Constitution and Sec. 105-1-10, Utah Code Annotated 1912, provide that "The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against self." "The privilege of refusing to answer extends to all proceedings sanctioned by law." 70 Corpus Juris 7-1.

If appellant is compelled to testify, are his constitutional rights as to self incrimination waived. Immaterial questions by the court in this case as to remarriage were if answered correctly incriminating. At this instance she, the appellant, should have been advised as to her rights.

This court has said, "If counsel, knowing witness should not be compelled to answer, ask questions implying immorality, supreme court may reverse case with censure on counsel, whether or not witness claimed privilege." State vs. Thompson 91 Ut. 351-64 P. 2nd, 229.

Where appellant has no counsel and the court is asking questions the appellant should have his rights preserved with greater care than ever.

As to waiver of rights, it is difficult to say a person can waive his rights if he doesn't know he has any.

As a 13 in Callan vs. Com. 8, 24 Gratt, 66 Va. 674- "There can be no waiver of privilege unless the witness has been warned of his right to the privilege."

"However, fair and impartial Judges frequently in proper cases notify witnesses of their right in this regard. And in some instances it is not too much to say this should be done. Of course, if a witness is silent, or officially the accused he must be advised of his privilege." 28 R. C. 1, 437.

The policy of the law and courts is to have witnesses testify voluntarily without compulsion and without subjecting themselves to criminal prosecution.

In 70 C. J. 147-21 it quotes the law as "Unless evidence has been voluntarily given the policy of the law relative to the privilege against self incrimination is to protect all persons from criminal proceedings of any character based on evidence obtained from the persons themselves."

"A witness may claim privilege against self in a cross examination as well as direct unless waived by direct examination." 70 C. J. 7, 5.

Appellant by immaterial questions was placed in an incriminating position. This was a clear case of a violation of her constitutional rights.

-C-

THE APPELLANT WAS ILLEGALLY COMPELLED TO TESTIFY.

In the proceedings of the order to show cause herein, the appellant was taken from her home and compelled to testify by order of the court. The appellant without subpoena or order of any kind was taken to court by the sheriff and Mr. Byington.

The proceedings so far as material here are set out as follows:

Mr. Byington on the stand.

"THE COURT: Where is your wife?  
DEFENDANT: Home.

THE COURT: Hasn't she been able to tell you where you got married?

DEFENDANT: Well, I guess she could.

THE COURT: Then I'm going to give you just about five minutes to get down there, Mr. Byington, and bring her back

here. We'll take a recess for about ten minutes so far as this case is concerned, and you may go with the sheriff and bring her back.

(Court recessed, as far as this case was concerned, for approximately twenty minutes.)" Rec. 56 of Brynston Appeal.

"To require a witness to attend court he must be subpoenaed." 104-49-6. Utah Code Annotated 1943. "He must be allowed reasonable time for preparation and travel." 104-49-8. Utah Code Annotated 1943.

Ivella Hutchison, the appellant, was called to the stand by the court and the proceedings are here set out:

"(Ivella Hutchison, a witness called by the court to testify for and in behalf of the defendant, having heretofore been duly sworn, testified as follows upon

EXAMINATION BY THE COURT:

Q What's your name?

A Ivella Hutchison.

Q Will you say that again?

A Ivella Hutchison.

Q How do you spell it? I-v-e-l-l-a?

A Yes.

Q Hutchison?

A Yes.

Q Don't you go by the name of Brynston?

A Yes.

Q How long have you been going by that name?

A Well, I've been going by it, too, for the last month.

Q Well, how long--

A But we weren't married until the first of December.

Q How long did you go by it indefinitely?

A Since last October.

Q When were you married?

A First of this month.

Q Where?

A Montana.

Q What?

A Montana.

Q Where at in Montana?

A Can't tell you.

Q Have you got a marriage license?

A Did have, yes.

Q Where is it?

A It's either in my personal belongings at my mother's home or somewhere between Buel, Idaho, and Blackfoot and here.

THE COURT: I think somebody's being taken for a ride.

MR. BULLEN: These are all new facts to me. I didn't know anything about it." Rec. 63-64 of Byington's appeal.

The court will see that she was not asked if she wanted the advise of counsel. She was not asked if she was the defendant's wife. She was not advised of her rights as to self incrimination.

In fact, the court advised the jury in the perjury trial that there was no reason to ask the witness if she wanted an attorney.

"Ivella Hutchison.

Q Would you state what happened on that date, if you recall?

A Howard was served his papers to come into court, and I started my washing. I was just about half way through when the sheriff came in with Howard and informed me I had





"If there is an issue of fact as to the validity of the marriage, the alleged spouse may not testify until the marriage has been proved void, and prima facie proof of marriage renders the witness incompetent." 70 C. J. 124 Dixon vs People 10 Mich 84 State vs Harris 22 S. W. 480 283 Mo. 99.

"Even in a collateral proceeding one spouse cannot give testimony tending to show that the other has committed a crime." 70 C. J. 148.

The question of marriage was not even an issue of fact in this case.

This procedure is called to the attention of the court to show the flagrant irregularity of the whole proceedings.

As stated, "A Judge may cross examine the witness or ask him leading questions, but it is not proper that he conduct an extended examination of any witness or usurp the place of counsel." 33 D.C.L. 388.

It must be remembered that the opposing counsel did not request the witness to testify.

How far does the right of a court go if he can call on his own witnesses who are not properly brought under the court's

**jurisdiction?**

The issue of marriage was wholly immaterial by the court's own admission.

(supra)

"A witness is not bound to answer a question collateral, irrelevant or immaterial if the matter is to degrade the witness, under guise of effecting credibility." 70 C. J. 741.

That the question of marriage was not only incriminating but was degrading cannot be denied. The witness and the defendant were living in unlawful cohabitation. A child was born out of wedlock. The child was conceived when the defendant was married. Rec. 99.

-D-

APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO A CHANGE OF JUDGE BECAUSE OF BIAS AND PREJUDICE OF THE TRIAL JUDGE.

A petition was filed January 7, 1948 for a change of Judge. Rec. 15.

The petition was based on bias and prejudice of the Judge. In this case the Judge not only heard the alleged perjured testimony, but he initiated the investigation. He requested the County Attorney and District Attorney to investigate. Petition for change of Judge was denied. Rec. 40.

In his sentencing of Mr. Byington for contempt the Judge in open court said,

"You will be remanded into custody of the sheriff of Cache County in execution of this judgment, and the District and the County Attorney are here, and I'm submitting this case to them for an investigation with respect to violation of any of the criminal laws of the State of Utah." Rec. 65 (Reference to the record above refers to the record in the appeal of State vs Byington)

This court has repeatedly held that where bias and prejudice are shown to exist against the defendant by the court, he is disqualified to try the case. Haslam vs. Morrison.

Where a Judge is the complainant.

Where he was presiding when the alleged

crime was committed; he certainly cannot be free from bias and prejudice.

"But he, (the court) is disqualified when he makes a statement in advance of trial amounting to a prejudgment of the case in favor of one of the parties, and when under circumstances he unreasonably denies a change of venue or a change of Judge, judgment will be reversed on appeal although no showing of prejudice at the trial." 30 Am. Juris. 786.

"Where prejudice is ground for disqualification, prejudice which is sufficient to disqualify a person to sit as a juror equally disqualifies him as Judge." 30 Am. Juris 785.

That the Judge had formed an opinion as to the guilt of defendant is evidenced by his remarks at the conclusion of the order to show cause proceedings. (supra) It is submitted that the Judge would not have been a competent juror to sit in the cause.

"A person who might be called as a witness is not necessarily incompetent as a juror, but if he knows about the controverted facts in the particular case, he is deemed to know material, controverted facts that of necessity must bias and influence his judgment as a juror." 16 R.C.

That the court knew the facts is quite plain.

The fact that there are so few authorities in such cases as this can be explained by the fact that there are few cases where a person's constitutional rights have been so grossly ignored.

It is the appellant's contention that the proceedings from the beginning were irregular and illegal for the following reasons:

1. The charge of perjury was based on immaterial testimony irregularly received.
2. The testimony on which charge was based was on incriminating questions and answers of appellant.
3. Appellant was illegally compelled to testify.
4. Appellant was entitled to a change of judge because of bias and prejudice of trial judge.

For these reasons the appellant respectfully submits that the conviction should be set aside and the complaint and information should be dismissed, and the fine of \$250.00 be ordered returned to appellant.

Respectfully submitted,

W. Lee Skanchy

Attorney for Appellant.