1948

The State of Utah v. Ivella Hutchison : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a companion to Case No. 7176, State of Utah vs. Howard S. Byington. Upon stipulation of counsel, and good cause appearing therefor, an order was

entered by the Chief Justice, permitting consolidation of the cases for argument before this Court.

The Appellant, Ivella Hutchison, having been tried before the District Court of the First Judicial District, County of Cache, State of Utah, was found guilty by verdict of jury of Perjury in Second Degree, fined \$250.00 and sentenced to 90 days in the county jail, the sentence to be suspended upon payment of the fine. Appellant has requested that this Honorable Court set aside the verdict and sentence and that the fine be refunded to her.

Under Section 103-43-1.10 U.C.A. 1943, it is provided in part:

“A. person is guilty of perjury who (1) Swears ***that he will testify ***in or in connection with, any action ***in which an oath is required by law ***and who in such action, ***willfully and knowingly testifies, ***any matter to be true which he knows to be false.”

Section 103-43-10 U.C.A. 1943 reads in part as follows:

“A person is guilty of perjury in the first degree who commits perjury as to any material matter in or in connection with any action or special proceeding, ***.”

Perjury in the second degree is designated by the Legislature, in Section 103-43-11, as follows:

A person is guilty of perjury in the second degree who commits perjury under circumstances

not amounting to perjury in the first degree.”

The record discloses, by State's exhibit "C", that a Decree of Divorce was entered on the 9th day of May, 1947, absolving the bonds of matrimony existing between one Howard S. Byington and one Lavina Byington; and that by the provisions of the Decree, Mrs. Byington was awarded custody of the four children of the parties and \$50.00 per month for their support and maintenance, payable on the 20th day of May 1947 and each month thereafter. A further sum of \$1.00 per year was awarded to Lavina Byington as alimony, payable June 1, 1947 and annually thereafter.

State's exhibit "C" further reflects that on or about the 26th of November 1947, Lavina Byington filed an affidavit in which she set forth as a fact, the failure of Howard S. Byington to make the payments as ordered and further that "His failure to pay said sums has been willful and intentional." Lavina Byington, in the aforesaid affidavit prayer that the Court enter an order directing him to show cause why he should not be punished for contempt for failure to make the aforesaid payments. The order was issued by the Court on or about the 26th day of November 1947 and was regularly heard by the Court on the 8th day of December. At the hearing Lavina Byington appeared personally and was represented by her counsel. Howard S. Byington appeared without counsel. The Court heard the testimony of Lavina Byington as to her information concerning Howard S. Byington's income since the entry of the

decree. Byington also was questioned at that time by counsel for Mrs. Byington and by the Court in respect to his earnings and failure to pay alimony.

It was during the course of these proceedings on the Order to Show Cause that Byington, among other things, was questioned as to whether or not he had remarried. Byington answered "yes." He further testified that he was married in the state of Montana but that he did not know of the exact time or place. His recollection concerning the marriage was so hazy that the Court asked:

"Where is your wife?"

Answer: "Home."

Court: "Hasn't she been able to tell you where you got married?"

Answer: "Well, I guess she could."

Court: "Then I'm going to give you just about five minutes to get down thre, Mr. Byington, and bring her back here. We'll take a recess for about ten minutes so far as this case is concerned, and you may go with the Sheriff and bring her back."

(Page 56, State's Exhibit "B")

Byington returned to Court with the Appellant who when called to the stand testified as follows:

"Q What's your name?

A Ivella Hutchison.

Q Will you say that again?

A Ivella Hutchison.

Q How do you spell it? I-v-e-l-l-a?

A Yes.

Q Hutchison?

A Yes.

Q Don't you go by the name of Byington?

A Yes.

Q How long have you been going by that name?

A Well, I've been going by it, too, for the last month.

Q You've been what?

A Going by it definitely for the last month.

Q Well, how long--

A But we weren't married until the first of December.

Q How long did you go by it indefinitely?

A Since last October.

Q When were you married?

A First of this month.

Q Where?

A Montana

Q What?

A Montana.

Q Where at in Montana?

A Can't tell you.

Q Have you got a marriage license?

A Did have, yes

Q Where is it?

A. It is either in my personal belongings at my mother's home or somewhere between Buel, Idaho, and Blackfoot and here."

Based upon the foregoing testimony, the Appellant was charged and convicted of the crime of perjury in the second degree.

PROPOSITION NO. 1

THE QUESTIONS CONCERNING MARRIAGE WERE PROPER AND PERTINENT TO THE COURT.

As set forth in Proposition No. 1 of the Respondent's Brief, Case No. 7176, it is the Respondent's position that questions to Byington concerning his marriage were relevant to the final determination and disposition of the case then before the Court. Counsel for Appellant argues that testimony concerning marriage was irregularly received and immaterial to the issues and that the only reason that could be given for the Appellant to testify was either "to have her perjure herself or incriminate herself." There is nothing in the record to support this contention or such a premise. Byington testified that he was married to the Appellant but was very vague concerning the time or place of the marriage and it was the suggestion of the Court that he return with Appellant in order that his memory in these particulars could be refreshed. When Appellant was asked to take

the stand and questioned concerning her marriage with Byington, there was no reason for the Court to believe that she would falsify. It would appear to be Counsel's position that the Court had every reason to believe Appellant to be Byington's wife; that she could not be compelled to testify against her husband; and therefore that she should not be called as a witness. On the other hand, the Appellant claims the Court compelled her to perjure herself because he had every reason to believe her not to be the wife of Byington. Such arguments are not consistent.

In 48 C.J. 864, the following appears :

“A privileged witness, such as a defendant in a criminal trial or a person whose testimony may tend to incriminate him may be prosecuted for perjury or false swearing if he waives his privilege and testifies falsely. A fortiori, where there is no privilege, the witness cannot escape liability for false testimony. But, if he has the privilege and does not waive it but testifies because illegally compelled to do so, he is not liable for perjury so committed.”

PROPOSITION NO. 2

THE STATEMENTS INVOLVED WERE VOLUNTARILY MADE

Appellant urges in her brief that the question of marriage was incriminating and in violation of the protection afforded a witness under Article 1, Section 12 of the Constitution of the State of Utah, and Section 105-1-10 Utah Code Annotated 1943.

Therefore, could it not be well argued that had Ivella Hutchison told the truth before the Court, and a prosecution for the acts revealed by her testimony was thereafter instituted, she would be immune from such prosecution by establishing that the matter originated through testimony and evidence she was compelled to produce by order of Court.

As far as the Appellant is concerned there can be no question that the provisions of the Code of Criminal Procedure, to the effect that "the accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against self," is not pertinent to this matter. Ivella Hutchison was not accused of a crime. She was called as a witness to testify in civil proceedings pending before the Court.

The determination as to whether or not the questions were self-incriminating presupposes a further proposition of law that in the event Ivella Hutchison had truthfully answered the questions submitted she would subject herself to criminal prosecution. It may be that it could be well argued that a truthful answer to the questions would have been an assurance of immunity from prosecution.

There is a line of well accepted authority to the effect that a person who is brought into Court under subpoena or otherwise and compelled to testify on subjects which may prove self-incriminating, has thereby gained immunity from prosecution concerning such matters.

In the case of *People vs. Schwarz*, 248 Pac. 990, 78 Cal App. 561, the following was stated:

“The weight of authority clearly supports the proposition that one who is brought into court under a subpoena and testifies pursuant thereto acts under compulsion. In *People vs. Courtney*, 94 N.Y. 490, 493, it was said, ‘The Constitution primarily refers to compulsion exercised through the process of the courts,’ and not to the supposed moral coercion which impels a person to testify lest adverse inferences might be drawn from his silence. In *Boyd vs. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746, it was said:

‘Constitutional provisions for the security of persons and property should be liberally construed. A close and literal construction deprives them of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right, as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon. Their motto should be *obsta principiis*.’

“And in *United States vs. Kallas* (D.C.) 272 F. 742-752, it was said, further:

‘How can it be said that, if a court required an accused to answer upon the witness chair, with the alternative of going to jail if he refused, it was such compulsion as to invalidate the evidence so obtained, and, at the same time, that a prisoner questioned in jail by his captor was not compelled to give evidence against himself.’

‘Such a course would be to very nearly, if not quite, blind oneself as to what constitutes compulsion. As above pointed out, the compulsion forbidden by the amendment--or

at least included in its prohibition--is compulsion exercised through the process of the court. The commitment by which the petitioner in the present case was held in jail is no less a compelling process than were he in court and ordered upon the witness chair for examination. ***While it may be that many know of their rights, and, even when in prison, have the will and courage to stand upon them, there certainly are others who do not.'

“In *Re Simon*, 297 F. 942, 34 A.L.R. 1404, it was contended that a bankrupt who had failed to obey a subpoena was not guilty of having violated an order of court. But it was said by the Circuit Court of Appeals:

‘It cannot be denied, however, that a subpoena is a writ. ***It will not be denied that a writ is a mandatory precept issued by a court. Commanding the person to whom it is addressed to do or refrain from doing some act therein specified. Because it is mandatory, and is issued by a court, it is an order of the court. ***The time was when a witness could not be compelled to go to court and testify, and if he attended and gave testimony his action was thought to bear the semblance of maintenance, and he ran the risk, if he came forward to testify, of being afterwards sued for maintenance by the party against whom he had spoken. *** A subpoena is a writ or process, and is mandatory in its nature, being a positive command. A writ of subpoena, like a writ of scire facias, fieri facias, habeas corpus, certiorari, supersedeas, and the various other writs, ‘are all commands or orders of court that something

be done.' *** In *Burns vs. Superior Court*, 140 Cal. 1, 3, 73, P. 597, 598, the court said that the very etymology of the word 'subpoena' signifies 'an order with a penalty for disobedience.' In the case of *Scott vs. Shields*, 8 Cal. App. 12, 96 P. 385, a subpoena is said to be: "A writ or order directed to a person and requiring his attendance at a particular time and place to testify as a witness.' "

"The California cases cited in the foregoing quotation involved questions of certiorari and contempt, and therefore are dissimilar from the one here presented. But they are in harmony with the consensus of general authorities that a subpoena is a writ, an order, for the disobedience of which the person named therein may be punished according to the expressed will of the Legislature.

"It has been suggested that the benefit of the immunity clause is not available to these defendants because they failed to 'claim the privilege.' It is obvious, however, that under such statutes there is no privilege. In *Bradley v. Clark*, 133 Cal. 196, 65 P. 395, the Supreme Court construed an identical provision in the Purity of Elections Law (St. 1893, p. 12). It was there said:

'If the matter sought to be elicited by the questions was matter embraced within the purview of any of the sections *** and if, with the defendant as a 'person offending,' the witness himself was also a 'person offending,' then by the express provisions of section 32, and by the authority of this court in *Ex parte Cohen*, 104 Cal. 524, 43 Am. St. Rep. 127, the witness could not claim immunity, and should not have compelled to testify.'

“We think, therefore, that the appellants Frankfort and Goldner were ‘compelled to testify under oath’ concerning the acts, transactions, matters, and things constituting the offense alleged in the indictment herein, and that by the express inhibitions of the statute they were thus guaranteed immunity from prosecution therefor. For the reasons stated, the judgments, as to these two appellants, must be reversed.”

The simple fact remains that Appellant falsified under oath. How and in what manner she was brought into Court as a witness is wholly immaterial to the issues.

14 Am. Juris. 371, par. 171, discusses the “inherent powers of courts.” The text states that these powers are such as result from the very nature of its organization and are essential to its existence and protection and to the due administration of justice. Among the powers discussed therein, the following appears:

“Another illustration of the inherent powers of courts is the power to administer oaths in the trial of cases. This power is implied in the jurisdiction to try cases and to receive the testimony of witnesses under oath, and it need not be conferred by statute. The power to maintain order, to secure the attendance of witnesses, to the end that the rights of the parties may be ascertained, and to enforce process to the end that effect may be given to judgments must inhere in every court or the purpose of its creation fails. Without such power no other could be exercised.”

PROPOSITION NO. 3
TRIAL JUDGE WAS NOT DISQUALIFIED

According to the record, as set forth in Appellant's Brief, prior to the trial of this case, attorney for Appellant filed application and petition for a change of judge upon the affidavit of appellant to the effect that the presiding judge, before whom the action was pending, was prejudiced against her and that she believed said judge would not grant her a fair and impartial trial.

It is respectfully submitted that this is the only indication of record that there was any doubt concerning the ability of the Court to hear the matter fairly. The affidavit, which at the most states a conclusion of appellant, is the only evidence that the judge was either biased or prejudiced.

A review of the record and pages 3 to 15 of the transcript disclosed that in the selection of the jury the court absolutely insured that Ivella Hutchinson would be afforded a fair trial. Nowhere in the proceedings does it appear that this attitude changed during the course of the trial. This Court has repeatedly held that the motion seeking to disqualify a trial judge on the ground of bias and prejudice is addressed to the discretion of the judge and he must decide the motion the same as any other matter which comes before him. *Musser vs. Third Judicial District Court*, 106 Utah 373, 148 Pac. (2d) 802. An affidavit stating that the judge is biased and prejudiced does not show disqualification. *Cox vs. Dixie Packing Co.*,

72 Utah 236, 269 Pac. 1000. See also Haslam vs. Morrison, Utah, 190 Pac. (2d) 520 and Willie vs. Local Realty Co., Utah (April 28, 1948).

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the Appellant was found guilty upon evidence which conclusively establishes her guilt. To say that the manner in which she was brought into Court exonerates or condones her delinquency as a matter of law, would be a travail upon Justice. The verdict and the sentence below must stand.

GROVER A. GILES,

Attorney General of Utah

ANDREW JOHN BRENNAN,

Assistant Attorney General

*Attorneys for Plaintiff and